
CITY OF WALNUT GROVE – Taken from minutes 
 

January 20, 2022 
 
XII. TOWN HALL DISCUSSION – Council member Stephanie Moncrief commented she wasn’t aware that 
the SPLOST account did not have enough to cover the cost of repaving Emerald Cove. Mayor Moore 
explained that due to extra unexpected costs on the streambank stabilization and Emerald Cove cross 
drain projects adjustments need to be made.  
 

April 14, 2022 7:00 PM 
 
4. Mayor’s Report – Mayor Moore reported Emerald Cove will be soon be marked for paving and the 
project is being coordinated with Walton County to be paved during the summer.  
 
 

May 12, 2022 
 
2. PAVING EMERALD COVE- Mayor Moore suggested this item be tabled until the next work session. 
Mayor Moore asked if any public questions on the item. Bill McMullen of 2130 Emerald drive asked if 
the roundabout section off Emerald Dive would also be patched and repaired. Mayor Moore explained 
the stages of the paving process and commented since the roundabout is on private property the city 
could not pave that area. Mr. McMullen requested a meeting with the Mayor to discuss the issue 
further. Gina Cowart the Emerald Cove HOA president stated she believed some of the neighborhoods 
without active HOAs have received help with grass maintenance in the past and asked if it would be 
possible for the city to help with filling the potholes on the entrance to the roundabout area. Mayor 
Moore stated without an agreement with the HOA and the city the area is private property and cannot 
be repaired by the city.  
 

May 26, 2022 
 
3. Emerald Cove Paving- Mayor Moore discussed the different quotes received for the paving project. 
Council member Stephanie Moncrief asked how the estimation was calculated. Mayor Moore said the 
city engineer marked the road and calculated the cost after adding the size of sections to be repaired. 
Erica Miles asked about the possibility of making the roundabout in Emerald Cove into a public road. 
Mayor Moore explained that the city cannot pave public property and currently the street is owned by 
the HOA. Tony Powell stated that the road would also have to be the same standard of construction as 
all other public roads. 
 

June 2, 2022 
 
VI. PAVING OF EMERALD COVE- Mayor Moore discussed the quotes received for paving Emerald Cove 
and the county was preparing for the paving season. Council member Jon Dial motioned to approve. 
Council member Linda Pilgrim seconded. Passed two votes to one Council member Stephanie Moncrief 
voted no. 
 
 



 
 

June 9, 2022 
 
3. Emerald Cove Paving – Mayor Moore discussed the asphalt portion of paving Emerald Cove. Mayor 
Moore explained the estimated amount of asphalt required was 1140 tons and the estimated cost of 
$93,000. Mayor Moore explained that the city engineer suggested including a 10 percent buffer for price 
increases and Mayor Moore requested to move that number to 20 percent due to the recent material 
shortages and inflation to a total of $119,000. Council member Erica Miles made motion to approve. 
Council member Linda Pilgrim seconded. Passed unanimously. 
 

July 19, 2022 
 
4. Mayor’s Report- Mayor Moore reported the deep patching should start July 25th and the paving 
completed by the end of summer. 
 
 

September 8, 2022 
 
XIII. TOWN HALL DISCUSSION - Home owners Clishe Thomas and Gina Cowart spoke to the council about 
the problems with the paving in Emerald Cove Subdivision. Mayor Moore explained the point of order to 
Ms. Thomas and Ms. Cowart. This should have been presented at the time of Public Comments normally 
the town hall is not brought into the record. It is usually a light discussion but, in this situation, he 
wanted to ask that this be brought into record. Mayor Moore asks them a couple of questions 
concerning if they had contacted City Hall,a council member, or Public Works on this before now? Ms. 
Cowart said that she had contacted City Hall during the process. Then she heard all their neighbors 
concerns and decided, as the HOA, to get everybody together and get this petition started. They did not 
want 80 people calling. They wanted to bring it together because the city is the one who made this 
decision to use this company. They wanted to bring it to show that it is effecting their community as well 
as some of your community. Mayor Moore said that he already has the City Engineer working on it and 
he has contacted Walton County since they did the paving. The city subbed out the milling and he is 
working John Alman who is head of the Walton County Public Works, to see a solution can be found. 
Mayor Moore asked that if you all will make him a list of the properties that are severe and email the 
pictures, so he can make it park of the record. Ms. Cowart informed Mayor Moore that the packet that 
she handed out had pictures and it was throughout the whole neighborhood.  
 
City Council member Stephanie Moncrief addressed Mayor Moore letting him know that she was aware 
of the problem and she serves on the board. They have tried to come up with the best way to represent 
the city, and since the city Council made the decision to pave the road, it was decided by the board and 
the neighborhood that they wanted to come to the council. Mayor Moore asked council member 
Stephanie Moncrief if she was aware of this. She stated that she was. Mayor Moore stated to Council 
Member Stephanie Moncrief that she did not bring it up to the city and she did not contact him. Council 
Member Stephanie Moncrief answered no she did not. Mayor Moore said that he finds that odd,that as 
soon as the problem is done, their equipment is out there, and there is an issue. If she would have 
reached out to him at that time he could have addressed this issue a lot quicker. Council Member 
Stephanie Moncrief said she does not find it odd. She was working with her neighborhood, and it had 
been brought to City Council, somebody made a phone call. Mayor Moore stated that he was going to 



find out about that and that he is going to address this. He wishes he would have been updated sooner 
so he could have moved on this quicker. He does find it unusual that it was this amount of time before 
someone said hey we’ve got a problem. If he don’t know it is broken he can’t fix it. Mayor Moore said 
that he was going to investigate and that this is not something that is going to get pushed to the side. 
Walton County did do Magnolia Springs and he hasn't had any complaints. His understanding is that 
they put the same thickness, a inch and a half, down in Emerald Cove as they did Magnolia Springs. 
Several residents of Emerald Cove spoke on the matter. The mayor said that this has caught him by 
surprise, but he will get it fixed. 
 

October 27, 2022 
 
B. Emerald Cove Paving - To be discussed in executive session. 
 
 
 
 

December 8, 2022 
 

 



 



 



 



 
 

January 12, 2023 
 

 
 

February 9, 2023 
 
X. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

March 2, 2023 
 

 

 
 
 

March 9, 2023 
 

 



 
March 30, 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

April 13, 2023 
 

 



 



 
  



May 11, 2023 
 

 



 
 

 



 



  



 



 
 
 

June 8, 2023 
 

 


